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Appendi x VI 
Lea k Detection a nd Repair Penal ty Policy 
September 2012 

Part I : General 

A. Overview and Applicability 

Appendix VI of the Stationary Source Civil Penalty Policy (General Policy) provides 
guidance on how to calculate settlement penalties for violat ions of the equipment leak standards 
that EPA has promulgated in 40 C.F.R. Pans GO, 61, and 63. EPA first added Appendix VI to 
the General Policy on March 3, 1988, because penalties for violations of equipment leak 
standards had LO take into accou nt different factors than are described in the General Policy. AL 
that time, Appendix YI applied only to cases under Part 61. Since then , EPA revised the General 
Pol icy nnd , as required by the Clean Air J\ct Amendments of 1990. issued numerous equipment 
leak standards in 40 C.f.R. Part 63 for various source categories or Hazardous Air Pollutants 
(HAPs). 

With thi s revision. EPA is taking the opportunity to modify Appendix VI to rcnecr 
experience gained since 1988 in enforcing equipment leak standards, to cover violations not 
previously covered, and to explicit ly expand Append ix Yr s applicability to Parts 60 and 63. 
While the specific equipment covered. the leak repair thresholds, and other such matters may 
vary between Parts 60, G1. and 63, the fundamental structure of the equipment leak standards in 
all three or these Parts is simi lar. This similarity enables thi s Appendix to be used for all 
equipment leak slan<lards in Paris 60, 6 1, and 63. 

B. Scope 

The General Policy provides guidance for assessing penalties for administrative and civil 
judicial enforcement actions under the Clean Air Act. Under the General Policy, penalties are 
assessed, in part, in accordance with the gravity of the violation and also the economic benefit of 
non-compliance. Appendix YI does not address the economic benefit component of penalty 
calculations, and economic bene fi t, if any, should be calculated in accordance "vith the General 
Pol icy. 

The gravity component of a penalty has four parts: ( 1) a penalty amount for actual or 
possible harm; (2) a penally amount for the importance to the regulatory scheme; (3) a penalty 
amount for size of the violator: and, (4) adjusting the gravity component. This appendix to the 
General Policy provides the methods fo r cnlculating the first two of the four parts or the gravity 
component : ( I) actunl or possible harm; and , (2) importance to the regulatory.scheme. The 
penalty calculations provided in this Appendix account for the unique nature of the regulations 
pertaining to equipment leaks of non-HAP VOCs and HAPs. The third and fourth parts of the 
gravity component, i.e., size of violator and adjust ing the gravity component, as well as the 
economic benefi t of non-compliance, are calculated according to the General Policy. 



As of the date of thi s Appendix. the penalty amounts already take into consideration the 
inflation adjustments required by 40 C. F.R. Part 19 (Adjustment of Civil Penalties fo r In flation) 
and the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996. To the extent that additional adj ustments for 
inflation arc required after the date of this appendix, and the violations in the matter occurred 
after that lime, then the amounts in this appendix must be adjusted accord ingly. 

C. Ca tego ries of LOAR Violations 

This append ix covers the following types of violations assoc iated with the equipment 
leak regulations: 

1. 	 Rceordkeeping violations; 

2. 	 Reporting violations; 

3. 	 rai lure to ident ify equipment (including mis identi fy ing equipment) subject to 
regulation; 

4. 	 Inspection and Method 2 1 monitoring violations; 

5. 	 f.ai lure to tag leaking equipment for repair; 

6. 	 Failure to repair leaks on time or at all; 

7. 	 Equipment stnndard violations, e.g., failure to cap open-ended I ines; 

8. 	 Pressure testing violations. 

D. 	 Adjustment Mult ipliers 

The actual or potential harm to the envi ronment from violations of the emissions-related 
regulations identified in Categories 3 through 8, above are more severe if the predominant 
fugitive emissions are HAPs rather than non-hazardous volatile organic compounds (11011-H/\P 
YOCs), and for non-H AP VOCs, if the facil ity is located in an ozone non-attainment area rather 
than an ozone attainment area. The actual or potential harm is also more severe if the violations 
present a significant ri sk to communities. Accordingly, there is an upward adjustment to the 
penalty calculations in this appendix to renect the greater severity of these emissions-related 
violations. Table l provides the multiplier that is applied to the penalties ca lculated fo r the 
above-referenced violations to account fo r the differences in severity. 
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TABLE I. M ULTIPLI ERS FOR EM ISS IONS-RELATED VfOLATIONS 
Predominant Fugitive Emiss ions Ozone Attainment Status Penalt y Mu lt iplier ror 

Violations Other than 
Recordkeeping and Reporting 

Non-1 IAP voes- Attainment I 
Non-H /\P VOCs Non-attainment 2 
HAPs /\ttainrnen t or notHlltainmcnt 2 
I IAPs risk to communities Attainment or non-attainment 2 plus an upward multiplier when 

warranted 

I I' the violations include some process units where the predominant fugiti ve emissions are 
1IAPs (40 C.F.R. Parts 61 or 63 apply) and some process units where the predominant fugit ive 
emissions arc non-HAP VOCs (40 C.F.R. Part 60 applies), then the penalt ies under this appendix 
should be calculated separately. if possible, between the HAP process units and the non-HAP 
process units. As an alternati ve. if it is not possible to separate the HAP and non-HAP process 
units. then the case team may use its discretion to apply a si ngle multiplier between I and 2 to 
the final penalty calc ulaced under this Appendix. 

The appropriate multiplier(s) is to be used when calculating tht> penalties under this 
appendix. The multiplier(s) is not to be used after calculating the fina l CAA penalty in the case. 
which may also include economic benefit, size of violator, and adj ustments lo the gravi ty 
component. 

PART JI: PF:NALTY ASSESSMENT 

For explanatory purposes, this appendix refers to the requirements or 40 C.f.R. 63 
Subpart H, National Emission Standards fo r Organic Hazardous Air Pollutants fo r Equipment 
l ,eaks. and other regulations. References to spel:ific regulations are not to be construed as 
limiting the scope of' thi s Appendix. 

A. Rccordkccping Violations 

Rccordkeeping requirements ensure! that the regulations arc enforceable. Penalties for 
rccordkeeping violations are assessed in the range of' $250 to $3 7,500. A complete failure to 
keep records should generally be assessed a penal ty in the upper end of the range; another 
example of a violation for 'vvhich higher penalties are assessed includes (bu t is not limited to) 
listing unregulated equ ipment on an equipment list, because li sting such unregulated equipment 
can bias the ca lculated leak rate low. Penal ties in the upper range arc particularly appropriate 
where the failure to keep records adversely affects other regulatory requirements. e.g., missing 
visual inspection records, wh ich could indicate that the facility did not perform the visual 
inspections. 
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Incomplete records can generally be assessed lower penalties, provided that the objective 
of the recordkeeping requirement is still served. The case team may use its discretion in 
determining an appropriate penalty adjustment as the nature and circumstances of the violation(s) 
requires. I .ower range penalties may be assessed for vio lations such as; the omission of a very 
small percentage of equipment from an eq ui pment list; fo r each entry required by 40 C.F.R. § 
63. I 8 I (cl) that was omitted, including, but not limited to, the date an equipment leak was 
detected; or the date of the first or last attempt at repair. 

Specific penalt ies for an incomplete record violation should be determined based on factors such 
as the following: 

• Quantity of informntion missing; 
• Overal l importance or the missing in fo rmation to the regu latory requirements; and , 
• Relative importance of the missing informarion compared to information that is present. 

B. Reporting Violations 

Reporting requirements are instrumental for assessing compliance. There are several 
reporting requirements found in the equipment leak provisions. While the regulations require 
that certain reports be completed only once (c.g,, Initial Notification, Notification of Compliance 
Status), other reports must be submitted at regular intervals (e.g., semi -annual reports). 
Violations of reporting requirements include: ( I) failu re to submit a report, (2) submitting an 
incomplete report. and, (3) late submission of a report. Use Table 2 to calculate the penal ty for 
report ing violations. 

Incomplete reports include reports submitted pursuant to a regulatory section that are 
missing certain information required by that section. As with recordkeeping violations, the case 
team will evaluate numerous fac tors in order to determine an appropriate penalty amount within 
the range listed in Table 2. The factors include, but are not limited to: the quantity of missing 
information; the overall importance ol" the missing information to EPA's abili ty to evaluate the 
company"s compliance with the regulations; the relative importance of the missing information 
compared to the information that is presen t; or the degree or inattention to the regulatory 
requirements that the company manifests in failing to record the missing information. Based on 
the factors set forth above. the case team may develop a method for detem1ining the percentage 
of the total information that is missing from the report, and that percentage can be used in 
developing the final figure. 

The minimum penalty for any reporting violation is $250. Such a violation may include. 
for e:-:ampk. the omission or one piece or equipment from a report. For example. 40 C.F.R. § 
63. I 82(d)(3)(iv) requires that owners or operators who elect to meet the requirements of 40 
C.F.R. § 63. l 78(b) relating to batch processes report the facts that explain any delay of repairs 
when an equipment train foiled a pressure test. If, fo r example, a Periodic Report failed to 
adeq uately explain any delay of repairs and the owner or operator subsequentl y provided that 
informat ion upon request. the::n EPA may assess a penalty or $250 instead or assessing a penalty 
for incomplete reports as described above. 
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TABLE 2. REPORTING VIOLATIONS 


Violation Initial Periodic Periodic Quarterly 
No tifi ca tion Report Due Report Due Report 
or Notice of Annually Semi-Annu a lly 
Compliance 
Status 

On·time but $250to $2 50 to $32,500 $250 to $27,500 $250to 
incomplete. 537,500 based on the based on the $22.500 based 

based on the fract ion or frac tion of on the fraction 
fractio n of missing mi ss ing of mi ssing 
missing information. in fo rmation. in fo rmation. 
information. 

Late $250/day. $250/day. $250/day, $250/day 
submission up to 150 up Lo 130 days, up to I I 0 days. up Lo 90 days, 
or complete days. cap or cap of $32,500 cap of $27,500 cap of 
report. $37,500 $22,500 

Late $250/day. $250/day up to $250/day $250/day 
submi ssion up to 150 130 days, cap of up to I 10 days, up to 90 days, 
and report is days, cap or $32.500, plus cap of $27,500, cap of 
i ncom ple1e. $37,500, plus S250 to $32,500 plus $250 to $22,500, plus 

$250 to based on the $27 ,500 based $250 to 
$37.500 fraction of on the frac tion of $22,500 based 
based on the missing missing on the fraction 
fraction or information. information. of' missing 
missing information. 
in fo rmat ion. 

Table 2 note: if a facili ty fai ls to submit a report , but docs so after contact by EPA, then the 
penalties arc assessed as described above fo r ··Late submission of complete report," or. "'Late 
submission and report is incomplete." 

C. Failure to Ident ify Equipment (Including Misidentifying f:quipmcnt) 

Each piece of regulated equipment in a process unit must be identi lied so that it can be 
distingu ished readi ly from equipment that is not subject to an equipment leak regulation. The 
fo llowing guidance general ly refers to tagging regulated equipment to comply with the 
requ irement to identi fy equipment subject to a regulatory subpart, and also applies when 
companies use records or logs to identi fy pieces of regulated equipment. 
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The failure to identify regulated equipment is a violation. Use the penalty matrix in 
Table 3 to calculate the penalty for failing to identify regulated equipment. The penalty is capped 
at $2.500.000 for faili ng to identify regulated equipment, which may be reduced based on the 
totality of the circumstances and the level of sophistication of the violator. 

TABLE 3. FAILURE TO lDENTJFY RF.GU LA TED EQUIPMENT 

failure to identify eq uipment $250 per valve, fl ange, connector, open
cnded valve or line, sampling connection 
system, instrumentation sys tem. 

$ 1,000 per pump, agitator. 

$5 ,000 per compressor, pressure relief device, 
surge control vessel, bottoms rece iver. 

Penalty Cap: $2,500,000 

Table 3 should also be used i r equipment has been misidentified as subject to regulation 
and the inclusion in the monitoring program results in the company improperly calculating its 
leak percentages. For example, if a company has tagged several valws in a process unit as 
subject to regulation. but none of the valves are in organic gas or liquid service, these valves will 
always show no leaks and result in the process unit appearing to have a lower leak rate. 

Unidentified equipment may not have been monitored for some or all of the time that it 
should have been monitored. Ir the piece of equipment was not moni tored ns it should have 
been, add it ional penalt ies are calculated and assessed under Section 0, below. 

D. lnspcction and Method 21 Monitoring Violations 

Moni toring and inspect ion of equipment are required at regular intervals to detect leaks 
or H/\P's and/or non-H/\P VOCs, and may be requi red arter a leak has been repaired. 
A1fonitoring methods include Method 21 (or any subsequent alternative or revision). and visual. 
auditory. olfactory, or other detection methods approved for use pursuant to the applicable 
subpart. The frequency of monitoring, also referred to here as monitoring events, depends on the 
type of equipment. The equipment that is subject to such periodic monitoring includes. but may 
not bt: limited to: 

• Pumps 
• Compressors 
• Valves 
• Flanges and/or connectors 
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• Pressure relief valves (PRVs) 
• Closed-vent systems (CVS) - hard pipe 
• CVS - duct work 
• Agitators 

Missed Monitoring and Inspection Events. Common monitoring and inspection 
vio lations include the follo,.ving: (i), a complete failure to monitor all of the pieces of equipment 
in a process unit; (i i), occas ional failure to conduct one or more monitoring events on one or 
more pieces of equipment (e.g., failure to remove insulation during monitoring), including 
monitoring following repairs; (i ii), equipment identified as difficul t to monitor in violation of the 
requirement; (iv), failure to monitor equ ipment as required after repai r; (v), use of an instrument 
that does not adeq uately respond to the compounds present (e.g., using a name ionization 
detector for forma ldehyde leaks); (vi), LOAR personnel are inattentive to the instrumental 
readout, or they arc holding the sample inlet too fa r from the equipment; (vii), fa ilure to monitor 
equipment such as va lves, flanges, and connectors at the required frequency because the fac ility 
incorrectly determined that its leak rate was low enough to allow a reduced frequency of 
monitoring or monitoring sk ip periods; or, any combination of the above. Use Table 4 co 
calculate the penalty for each fail ure lo monitor or inspect. 

TABLE 4. MISSED MON ITORING AND INSPECTION EVENTS 

Per valve, flange, connector; 

Per pump, agitator; 

Per compressor, PRY, CVS. 

$ 100 

$400 

$2,000 

Note: If equipment is not monitored because it is not iden tified as regu lated equipment in the 
monitoring program then the penalty is assessed in accordance with Table 3. not Table 4. 

Method 21 Calibrat ion Violations. Table 4 is used to assess penalties when certain 
requirements of Method 21 were not followed during monitoring events. and the failure to fo llow 
those requirements is equi valent to a fa ilure to monitor. Such a fai lure to monitor may occur 
when, for example, the instrument used to perform monitoring by Method 21 is not cal ibrated, or 
the instrument does not pass a calibration check. fo r example, 40 C.F.R. § 63. I 80(b)(3) requires 
that, in the performance of Method 21, "the instrument shall be calibrated before use on each day 
of its use .. .." A fa ilure to calibrate the instrument before monitoring is equivalent to a failure lo 
monitor because there is no information to validate the data collected on that day. In another 
example, Method 21 section I 0.0, Calibration and Standardization, states that " if the meter 
readout cannot be adjusted to the proper va lue, a malfunction of the analyzer is indicated and 
corrective actions arc necessary before use." Using such an instrument to perform monitoring is 
equivalent to a fai lure to monitor. 

A failure to monitor may also occur when an instrument is calibrated but the instrument 
is not used in accordance with Method 21. For example, Method 21 , sec. 7.4, provides that 
'"calibrations may be performed. using a compound other than the reference 
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compound ... [howeverI....a conversion factor must be determined for the alternati ve compound 
such that the resulting meter readings during source surveys can be converted to the reference 
compound (i.e.. n-hcxanc) results." If monitoring is conducted using an instrument calibrated 
with an alternative gas and a conversion fac tor is not used lo adjust the reading to the reference 
gas. then a failure to monitor may be indicated. 

Violations or the Method 21 calibration requirements may occur that do not result in a 
failure to monitor. For example, Method 21 at section 7.2, Cylinder Gases. requires that the gas 
mixtures used for calibrations be certified to a two percent accuracy standard by the 
man ufacturer. and a have a specified shelf life. Cyl inder standards must be ei ther reanalyzed 
("'recertified") or replaced at the end of the specified shelf life. If, fo r example, an expired gas 
cylinder was used for ca li bration but the cylinder was subsequentl y recertified and the gas 
standard concentrati on was acceptable, then the measurement values collected during the 
moni toring are likely to be valid. In another example, if the Method 21 instrument was 
ca librated wi th a gas cylinder that had a lower accuracy (e.g., five percent accuracy), then the 
measurement va lues collected during the monitoring event arc less accurate but the data may 
indicate that no leaks were missed due to the less accurate calibration. A penalty of $250 may be 
assessed for violati ng Method 2 I calibration requirements when the violations do not appear to 
invalidate the monitoring event. However, if an expired gas cylinder was used for calibration 
and the recertified concen tration was not acceptable, or the cylinder was not recertified, then the 
penalty is assessed in the same manner as for a missed monitoring event in accordance with 
Table 4. 

Failure to Perform Method 2 1 Correctl v Based on Comparati ve Monitoring. With 
respect to 40 C.F.R. Part 60, appendix A. Re ference Method 2 I. monitoring vio lat ions also 
include the systemic failure to perform the moni toring in accordance with Method 2 I, sec. 8.3. 
/11di1•id11ul Source S11neys, and as prescribed by the applicable regulations. /\ systemic failure 10 

perform Method 21 correctl y may be indicated when comparative mon itoring at the process 
un it(s) shows a hi gher calculated leak rate than the company·s monitoring records. Penalties fo r 
fai li ng to perfom1 monitoring in accordance wi th Method 2 1, section 8.3 arc assessed in 
accordance with Table 5. 
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TABLE 5. FACL URE TO PERFORM MONIT ORING C ORRECTLY 


Monitori ng Frequency Penalty per monitoring req uirement per 
process unit 

Every 8 years s18,500 

Every 4 years SI 5,000 

Every 2 years 512,500 

Annual (e.g.. connectors) $ 10.500 

Semi-Annual $7,500 

Quanerly (e.g., valves) $5,000 

Bi-Monthly $3.500 

Monthly (e.g. pumps) $2,500 

I':. Failure to Tag L eaking Eq uipment for Repair 

Each piece of eq uipment that is found to be leaking must be physically tagged to identify 
ii as requiring repair. /\ failure to do so is a violation. Use Table 6 to calculate the penalty for 
failing 10 tag cquipmcm that is found to be leaking. and for failing to keep a tag on the equipment 
for re-monitoring. Ir the equipment was repaired on time even though it was not tagged, then 
EPA has the discretion to reduce or to not assess a penalty as specified in Table 6. 

TABLE 6. FAILURE TO TAG LEAKING EQUIPMENT FOR R EPAIR OR 
REMONITORJNG 

Failure to tag equipment where a leak was Per valve, fl ange, connector; $100 
detected: failure to keep tag on for re-
monitoring. Per pump. agitator; $400 

Per compressor. PRY. $2,000 

F. Failure to Repa ir Leaks on Time or At All 

The regulations requ ire owners or operators to make a fi rst attempt at repa ir with in five 
days of identifying a lt:ak. Ir the lirst attempt is ineffective, then a leak must be repaired as soon 
as practicable, but no later 1ha11 1 S days after the leak was detected, unless ont: or the few 
exemptions apply (e.g .. technical infeasibility without a process shutdown). An owner or 
operator can fail to repair a single piece of equipment within the deadlines on more than one 
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occasion if' the owner or operator finds the component leaking more than once. J\ penalty is 
assessed for each failure to comply, even if the same piece of equipment is involved. 

Use Table 7 to calculate the penalty for failing to make repairs on time and for failing to 
make repairs altogether. Identify each equipment piece that \Vas not repaired 0 11 time and, for 
each such piece, determine how many days the company was late in making either the first or 
final attempt at repair, or both. The maximum duration of time for fai li ng to make a first attempt 
is capped at I 0 days (i.e., days 6 through 15) hecause after day 15. the violation becomes a 
failure to make a final attempt at repair. J\nd, even though a fai lure to make a final attempt at 
repair can last indefinitely. there is a per-day penalty cap of 125 days for such a fai lure. 
Penalties are assessed for each violation per piece of equipment, per day. 

TABLE 7. LATE REPAIRS OR NO REPAIRS, PER PI ECE OF EQUIPMENT 
failure to perform a first attempt at repair 
within the required time. /\ssessed per-day for 
each day late. Cap: I 0 days. 
f'ailure to perform a final attempt at repair 
within the required time. Assessed per-day for 
each day late. Cap: 125 days. 

Per piece or equipment per day: SIOO 

Cap per piece of equipment: $ 1.000 


Per valve, nange, connector per day: $150 

Cap per valve, flange, or connector: $18,750 


Per pump, agitator per day: $500 

Cap per pump, agitator: $62.500 


Per compressor, PRV per day: $3,000 

Cap per compressor. PRV: $375,000 


G. Equipment Standard Violations 

l\n ··equipment standard'" violation refers to a failure to equip certain equipment in 
LDJ\R service with devices that arc required by the regulations. For example, open-ended lines 
must be equipped with a cap, a blind flange. a plug, or a second valve. Compressors must be 
equipped with a particular type of seal system. There are a variety ofdifferent equipment 
standards and the standards refer to hardware requirements for preventing leaks. Use Table 8 to 
calculate penalties for each violation of an equipment standard requirement, regardless or the 
duration of the violation. If evidence exists, however, to demonstrate a long-term violation, the 
case team has the discretion to upwardly adjust the penalty to account fo r the potentially greater 
harm caused by the lengthy duration of the violntion. 

TABLE 8. EQUI PMENT STANDARD VIOLATIO NS 

Open-ended lines, sampling connecrion systems, Per piece or equipment: S750 
instrumentation systems. 

Compressors, CVS. surge control vessels, bottoms receivers. Per piece or equipment: $2,000 
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H. Pressure Testing Violations 

When equipment is reconfi gured for the production of different products or 
intermediates, the equipment must be pressure tested for leaks before the equipment is placed in 
service (see, for example, 40 C.F.R. § 63. 178(b)( I )). The penalty fo r fai ling to pressure test is 
$1 1,250 per fa ilure to test, plus the sum of the per-equipment penalties such as valves and 
connectors associated with the reconfigured equipment, as listed in Table 9. A foi lure to 
pressure test also occurs when procedures for pressure testing are not follo"ved and the test is not 
valid fo r the required test objective. For example, 40 C.f.R. § 63 . l 80(g)( l) requires process 
equipment to be pressurized with a test liquid at normal operating pressure to test for leaks. If 
the test is conducted at a pressure that is lower than the pressure of normal operations, then leaks 
may not occur during the test that would otherwise exist at the higher operat ing pressure. The 
penalty for invalid testing is assessed in accordance with Table 9, in the same manner as for a 
failure to pressure test. 

TABLE 9. 

Per valve, llangc, connector; 

FAILURE TO PRESSURE TEST 

SIOO 

Per pump, agitator: $400 

Per compresso r, PRY , CVS . $2,000 

When pressure testing is conducted and a leak is detected, the leak must be repaired and 
the equipment must be retested before start-up of the process. rf the equipment fa iIs the second 
test, then the leak must be repaired as soon as practicable but not later than 30 days fo llowing the 
retest (see, for example, 40 C.F.R. § 63 . l 78(b)(4)). If the leak is not repaired before start up, or 
within 30 days, then the penalty for delaying the repair is assessed in accordance with Table I 0. 

TABLE 10. PRESSURE TEST DELAY OF REPAIR 
Fai lure to repair leaks before equipment start 
up, or within the requ ired time following a 
retest. Assessed per-day. Cap: 125 days. 

Per valve, flange, connector, per day: 
Cap per valve, flan ge, connector: 

Per pump, agitator per day: 
Cap per pump, agitator: 

$ 150 
$18,750 

$500 
$62,500 

Per compressor, PRY per day: 
Cap per compressor, PRV: 

$3,000 
$375.000 

Violations of required pressure test procedures may occur that do not inval idate the test. 
For example, 40 C.F.R. § 63. l 80(f)(3) provides an equation that must be used to determine the 
change in pressure per hour, in units of pounds per square inch gauge (psig), during the test. If 
the owner or operator uses other units of pressure such as atmospheres, inches of mercury, etc. , 
then the requirement of the regulation was not met. A penalty of $250 may be assessed for 
violating test requirements where the violations do not void the test results. 
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